1986

West Valley City v. Kenneth H. Risløw : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the district court's affirmance of a conviction for the offense of Lewdness, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of §13-9-702 of the West Valley Revised Ordinances, in the Fifth Circuit Court, West Valley Circuit, Salt Lake County, the Honorable Tyrone E. Medley, Judge presiding.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Appellant was charged by Information with the offense of Lewdness, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of §13-9-702 of the West Valley Revised Ordinances. The case was tried before a four member jury on December 18th, 1985. On that same date, appellant was convicted, as charged, by the jury. On January 30, 1986, appellant was sentenced by the circuit court. On February 7th, 1986, appellant filed a notice of appeal to the District Court. After both sides submitted oral and written argument to Judge Judith M. Billings, of the third judicial district court, said court affirmed the circuit court judgment in a memorandum decision dated April 28th, 1986. After hearing

further argument, the district court, on May 29th, 1986, issued a second memorandum decision affirming the April 28th, 1986, opinion. On June 6th, 1986, appellant filed a notice of appeal with this court.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks an order from this court reversing the judgment and conviction rendered against him, and remanding this case to the fifth circuit court for a new trial.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL

The issue presented by this appeal is whether appellant was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel where trial counsel made no attempt to object to the prosecutor's clearly unreasonable and objectionable argument.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At trial, the City's first witness was Katherine Loveless, who testified that on May 4, 1985, she was employed as a secretary at ZCMI, which is located in the Valley Fair Mall. (Transcript, pages 35-36) She stated that she first noticed appellant in the early afternoon on that day as he was walking up the stairs near her desk. (Tr. 36)

At that time, Loveless noticed that appellant had on a T-shirt, jogging shorts, and a large utility belt around his waist. (Tr. 36) Also, she noticed that his shorts were "hiked up on one side", thus exposing a substantial part of his penis and testicles. (Tr. 36) After he walked past her desk,

appellant then stood in a credit line for a few minutes. (Tr. 37) Then, according to Loveless, he walked over to the toy department, but later came back to her area and picked up a bus schedule. (Tr. 37)

Loveless indicated that, after appellant came back the second time, she went to get a store security guard. (Tr. 40) However, by the time she returned, he had gone into the restroom. (Tr. 40) She indicated that when appellant emerged from the restroom, the shorts seemed to be pulled up even higher than before. (Tr. 41) The security guard then contacted a West Valley City police officer, who was in the store investigating a shoplifting incident. (Tr. 42)

Finally, Loveless testified that a number of people in the store observed appellant (Tr. 42), but that no one made an attempt to tell him that he had a problem. (Tr. 43)

The City also called, among others, Scott Longson, who was employed as the store security guard on May 4th. (Tr. 66) He indicated that it appeared to him the belt had caused the pants to be "kind of hiked up". (Tr. 67) However, Longson indicated that he did not mention this problem to appellant. (Tr. 70)

After the City rested, appellant then took the stand in his own behalf. (Tr. 84) He testified that he had gone to ZCMI that day to pay a bill. (Tr. 86) Appellant further testified he was not aware of the fact that he was "hanging out", when he was approached by the police officer. (Tr. 91)

After appellant testified, his trial counsel called three character witnesses who attested to his reputation for truthfulness and veracity, as well as his good character. Testimony was also introduced through opinion evidence relating to truthfulness and good character. (Tr. 98-117)

In response to appellant's character witnesses, the prosecutor called his ex-wife, Pamela Richards, to attest to his lack of veracity and truthfulness, as well as his bad character. (Tr. 119) However, in addition to eliciting testimony from her with regard to reputation and character, he also asked her several questions, over defense counsel's objections, regarding specific instances of bad conduct and/or other bad acts. (Tr. 120)

Specifically, he asked her if appellant had ever "fibbed" to her (Tr. 120)¹, if he had failed to pay his income taxes (Tr. 121-122), if he had fraudulently registered a motor vehicle (Tr. 122); and was able to elicit a statement from her that people they had known were afraid of appellant. (Tr. 123) It should be noted that the prosecutor did not, at any point, confront appellant or his character witnesses with any of these extrinsic facts on cross-examination.

Finally, in closing argument, the city prosecutor

1. At this point, trial counsel voiced his objection to any reference to specific instances of conduct as provided by Sections 404 and 405 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. The objection was overruled by the Court.

made the following statement, which was not objected to by trial counsel:

Counsel finally says that he's [appellant] guilty of being a slop (sic), not lewdness. I'm sorry. It's more than that. It's much more than that. Do you want people walking into the stores where you shop, dressed in that fashion, dangling their genitalia and you're going to find them not guilty? See, that presumption of innocence just went out the window. It's now time for you to decide this case. If you want these people walking around in your stores where you shop, then you're going to find him not guilty. If you want to put a stop to it, you're going to find him guilty. You raised your hand, an obligation, you swore that you would well and truly try this case. I'm asking you now to do what you agreed to do. (Tr. 173)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue here concerns trial counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's closing argument, which, appellant submits, was clearly improper. More important was the fact that trial counsel failed to object to this inflammatory statement. This is especially true where the prosecutor had already been able to introduce other instances of "bad character" on appellant's part.

Based on these factors, appellant believes that his trial counsel was ineffective. Thus, appellant was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 12 of the Utah State Constitution.

ARGUMENT

In State v. Andreason, 718 P.2d 400 (1986), this court reversed a conviction for third degree felony theft because of the prosecutor's improper closing argument. In Andreason, the prosecutor had argued:

Now, if these two gentlemen were our only concern, we could probably let them go but they're not. Ladies and gentlemen, we have a concern for all of society, we have concerns if this goes on and that this is not an isolated incident. This type of conduct is pervasive and when we're --

Mr. Mower: I object. I think the prosecutor is trying to paint the picture that there are others who are not charged and who are not before the Court.

The Court: Objection's overruled. This is argument, Counsel.

Mr. Brown: Perhaps the Defense would have you believe that nobody else is doing it but they are and everytime we have a jury trial, people are watching. People are watching to see how we administer justice and so, before you determine that there is some reasonable doubt -- and I'm not sure what it is -- but before you determine that, you need to consider that we're not -- we've heard a lot about these two Defendants but they are not the only ones here and they are not the only ones we need to be concerned about. We've got to be concerned about the law.

Now, we give the Defendants a lot of rights to insure that we never convict an innocent man but while we're insuring that, we need to be concerned about how many who aren't innocent are turned loose and how it affects them and us but also how it affects others, others who are going to base their decisions on conduct and what they know about how our system works.

So it is a weighty decision but you need to consider everyone who is involved here.

The court began it's analysis by stating that a two-part test was to be employed in reviewing alleged prejudicial remarks made by a prosecutor during closing argument. The first part of the test considers whether the remarks called the attention of jurors to matters they would not be justified in considering in determining their verdict. Id. at 402. The second part of the test considers, given a violation of part one, whether the appellant demonstrated, under the facts of each particular case, that the jurors were probably influenced by the improper remarks in reaching their verdict. Id. at 402-03.

The court then held that part one of the test had been met. It stated that:

The jury's attention was clearly called to matters outside the evidence of the case, e.g., that defendant's alleged conduct was "pervasive", that others were involved in similar conduct, and that the jury needed to be concerned about those "who aren't innocent but are turned loose". Id. at 402.

As to the second part, the court ruled that because of circumstantial and sufficiently conflicting evidence in the case, the jury was probably influenced by the comments. Id. at 403. Thus, the case was reversed and remanded to new trial.

Appellant submits that application of the Andreason analysis in the instant case would require a reversal if that issue itself could have been brought before this court on appeal. Clearly, the statements here were as offensive as those in Andreason, in that it called the jury's attention to

others apparently committing the same acts as appellant had done. Further, it appealed to the jury to convict appellant so as to prevent "these people [from] walking around in your stores where you shop".

As to the second part of the test, the evidence in the instant case was also circumstantial and sufficiently in conflict. The testimony indicated that although appellant was exposed, no one communicated that fact to him in order to ascertain his intent and/or lack of knowledge. Also, appellant himself testified that he was not aware he was exposed at the time. Appellant submits that because of the marginal nature of criminal intent and/or knowledge, there existed a reasonable likelihood that in the absence of the improper argument, there might have been a different result. See, State v. Andreason, supra at 403; State v. Tucker, Utah, 709 P.2d 313, 316 (1985); State v. Wiswell, Utah, 639 P.2d 146 (1981).

Because this case involves an appeal from a conviction which originated in circuit court, appeal to this court on the basis of improper prosecutorial comment is not proper because this court has not traditionally treated this issue as one involving a constitutional question. However, appellant believes that the constitutional issue here involves his trial counsel's failure to object to conduct which probably could have or should have resulted in a mistrial in the instant case. Therefore, this brief will focus on those cases that deal with allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Appellant

urges this court, in its analysis to consider the prosecutor's statements, in conjunction with other "bad acts" evidence improperly introduced at trial, as contributors to the prejudicial effect that failure to object under the particular circumstances of this case may have had.

In Strickland v. Washington, ____ U.S. ____, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 25 L.Ed.2d 763 (1984) the United States Supreme Court announced that the following test would be applicable with regard to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel:

[T]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.

This court has recently established its own three-prong test to be applied in determining whether a conviction should be set aside or reversed based on ineffective assistance of counsel:

1) The burden of establishing inadequate representation is on the defendant "and proof of such must be a demonstrable reality and not a speculative matter". State v. McNichol, Utah, 554 P.2d 203, 204 (1976).

2) A lawyers "legitimate exercise of judgment in the choice of trial strategy or tactics that did not produce the anticipated result does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel". McNichol, supra at 205.

3) It must appear that any deficiency in the performance of counsel was prejudicial. In this context, prejudice means that without counsel's error there was a "reasonable likelihood that there would have been a different result."

Appellant submits that both the federal and state tests are similar in practical effect. In addition, appellant submits that his counsel was ineffective under either standard. Because the state standard is both more substantial and more specific than the federal standard, analysis will be made pursuant thereto.

Under the first prong of the Codianna test, appellant submits that he has met his burden of proof in showing that the error here is demonstrable and not speculative. Here, the trial transcript, on its face, clearly points out the objectionable facts, in addition to his counsel's failure to object thereto.

Pursuant to the second prong, it is equally clear that defense counsel's failure to object did not involve legitimate exercise of judgment in the choice of trial strategy. Certainly, the failure to object to this type of argument at a point in the trial when defense counsel has completed his case, cannot possibly be construed to be a strategic-type decision.

The district court, in its analysis of these two prongs, held that because trial counsel had already objected so many times at trial, he may have reasonably determined that further objection would cause the jury to react adversely. With all due respect to the district court, appellant submits that there comes a point where trial strategy must give way to a clear responsibility to object to something which is so clearly "out-of-bounds". In the instant case, this is so. The danger

here is not in possibly alienating the jury. Rather, it is the suggestion to the jurors that they may consider prejudicial matters outside the scope of the evidence that is so critical. In not objecting, defense counsel permitted the jury to deal with inflammatory social and/or moral issues which would be damaging to any defendant. Failure to object to such statements simply goes beyond mere trial strategy analysis.

As to the third prong, the likelihood of a different result without the statements is certainly reasonable. Again, in its memorandum decision, the district court stated that the likelihood of prejudice to appellant was weak "in view of the substantial competent evidence in the record supporting the appellant's conviction". (Memorandum decision, page 15)

Appellant submits that the significant conflict in the evidence, combined with the circumstantial nature of the city's case, seriously undermines the district court's assertion that the evidence was substantial. Appellant believes the evidence was close enough that any improper conduct during closing argument could have been enough to impact on the jury's decision.

In State v. Buel, Utah, 700 P.2d 701 (1985), the appellant had been convicted of aggravated assault and possession of a dangerous weapon by a restricted person. Among other issues raised, appellant argued that his trial counsel had been ineffective because he failed to object to the admission of a document which was used to prove that he had been convicted of a prior felony in Washington. In holding that appellant had

failed to satisfy Codianna, the court stated that counsel's failure to object to the chain of custody was not improper and would have been futile anyway. The court then quoted an earlier case, stating that "effective representation does not require counsel to object when doing so would be futile". Id. at 703, quoting State v. Malmrose, Utah, 649 P.2d 56, 59 (1982).

Appellant submits that the instant case can be distinguished from Buel. In Buel, it was clear that the objection would have had no effect since it would not have been meritorious. On the other hand, an objection in the instant case would have, at the very least, resulted in a curative instruction from the court. Further, it could have resulted in a mistrial based on Andreason, supra. Certainly, the objection would not have been futile or without merit.

In State v. White, Utah, 671 P.2d 191 (1983), trial counsel failed to subpoena a witness who she believed would assert his Fifth Amendment privilege. This witness had initially confessed to the crime which her client was charged with. In holding that appellant had failed to prove his counsel had been ineffective, this court stated:

...the appellant does not establish that there is any reasonable likelihood that the jury would have reached a different result if [the witness] had been subpoenaed and testified. We have no way of knowing what [his] testimony would have been. He might have asserted a Fifth Amendment privilege or he might have testified and denied ever confessing ... Id. at 194-195.

Appellant agrees with the court's reasoning in White. There, the questioned tactics were such that one could only

speculate as to why trial counsel chose not to utilize an obviously questionable confession. In the instant case, however, none of the speculation that existed in White is present. Rather, the questioned lack of action by trial counsel relates to a statement actually made by the prosecutor in the jury's presence. Further, this statement was made after the evidence introduced at trial had already included negative character evidence which the district court even believed was erroneously admitted. (District Court memorandum decision, page 7) This case simply presents that rare situation where, under its unique facts, the probability of prejudice arising from a statement as was made was likely. Counsel's failure to object at that particular time cannot be attributed to mere strategy. It was ineffective under any standard and appellant is therefore entitled to a new trial.

Finally, this court, in State v. Frame, Utah, 723 P.2d 401 (1986) has defined "reasonable probability" "as that sufficient to undermine confidence in the reliability of the verdict". at 405, quoting State v. Lairby, Utah, 699 P.2d 1187 at 1204-06 (1984). This prong, appellant submits is the crux of this case. Because it appears clear that trial counsel should have, under the facts of this case, objected to the improper remarks, the question then concerns the "reasonable probability" that the statements and the lack of objection were sufficient to undermine confidence in the reliability of the verdict.

Again, the prosecutor was able to improperly introduce evidence that appellant had lied to his ex-wife, failed to pay income taxes, fraudulently registered a motor vehicle and was violent. Although these improprieties are not before this court on appeal, one must look at these facts in conjunction with the statement to see that confidence in the verdicts reliability must necessarily be greatly undermined. The danger of the jury looking at appellant as a bad person in light of the character evidence and the prosecutor's plea to the jury to make a moral judgment rather than one based only on the facts of this case was obvious. This danger was not speculative, like in White, it was real. Therefore, appellant is entitled to a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument, which demonstrates that trial counsel was ineffective, appellant's conviction should be vacated and reversed with an order to the circuit court for a new trial.