1986

# West Valley City v. Kenneth H. Risløw : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

### **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR APPEAL**

The issue presented by this appeal is whether failure to make a single objection, when viewed in light of the entire record, constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On May 4, 1985, the Defendant entered the ZCMI store at the Valley Fair Mall in West Valley City. He was seen by Katherine Loveless, secretary to the personnel manager. She described his attire as jogging shorts, athletic-type shirt, and a utility belt around his waist. When asked if she noticed anything peculiar about him, she said his jogging shorts were hiked up and that he was exposed. When asked to explain "exposed" she stated, "His private parts were showing for all the world to see." (TT p.36 11 21-22.) This was apparently the case, as she later described young women in the credit line giggling and older ladies making an audible intake of break (breath). (TT p.42, 11 16-19.)

Ms. Loveless was shown a picture of the Defendant which he said depicted his attire on May 4, 1985. This photograph was taken by Lyn Horton. (TT p.117, 11 9-16.) According to the Defendant, he had to deliberately arrange his clothing in order to make the bulge in his undershorts visible below the jogging shorts he wore in the photograph. (TT p.94, 11 1-12.) When Ms. Loveless compared what she saw in the photograph with what she saw on May 4, she stated the shorts were hiked up a lot more than

they were in the photograph. (TT p.38, 11 22-24.) This was before the Defendant came out of the men's room, when his shorts were hiked up even higher. (TT p.41 11 15-22.)

Following Ms. Loveless' testimony, the City called Stewart Poore. Mr. Poore testified he saw an astonished look on Ms. Loveless' face and that she told him a man had just walked by while partially exposed. (TT p.52, 11 3-10.) Mr. Poore also noticed the Defendant was exposed (Id., at 11 17-10.) Mr. Poore stated the Defendant's shorts were hiked up much higher than depicted in the photograph (TT p.53, 11 14-18), and noted the reaction of persons near the credit office (TT p.55, 11 13-16).

The City next called Scott Longson. He also testified the Defendant was exposed. (TT p.76 11 3-8.) Following his testimony, the City called Ann Zupon. She stated what called her attention to the Defendant was the fact he was exposing himself. (TT p.73, 11 22-23.) She also testified people in the credit line saw him (TT p.74, 11 10), and that the problem was worse when he exited the men's room. (Id., at 11 14-18). The City called no further witnesses and rested.

As its first witness, the defense called the Defendant, Kenneth Rislow. He stated he did not know any of his private parts were exposed to public view. (TT p. 89, 11 12-16.)

On cross-examination, the Defendant stated the undershorts he was wearing had elastic around the leg which was very tight. (TT p.91, 11 16-18.) He stated that when a police officer approached him, he was not hanging out and did not have to adjust

himself. (TT p.91, 11 19-25; p.92, 11 1-2.) It was his contention that he was never exposed, but people must have mistaken the shorts for his private parts. (TT p.92, 11 3-9.)

Following the Defendant's testimony, several character witnesses testified as to their opinion of his moral character and the Defendant's reputation for truthfulness and honesty. The City called the Defendant's ex-wife in rebuttal. She testified that the Defendant had lied to her constantly (TT p.121, 11 2-12), and that he had registered a vehicle in New Jersey rather than pay Utah State taxes on it. (TT p.122, 11 7-12.) She also testified that he did not have a good reputation for telling the truth. (TT p.124, 11 6-9.)

The City also recalled Ms. Loveless as a rebuttal witness. She was shown the undershorts the Defendant said he was wearing and asked if it were possible it was the shorts she had seen. She replied, "No way." (TT p.132, 11 2-5.)

At the conclusion of rebuttal testimony and the reading of the instructions, the case was submitted to the jury.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The issue in this case is whether failure to object to an improper statement made by the Prosecutor during rebuttal constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.

The City submits that the lack of an objection was a tactical decision and that evidence of guilt was such that making the objection or the absence of the Prosecutor's statement would

not have made the outcome different. Therefore, it cannot be said Appellant's trial counsel was ineffective.

#### ARGUMENT

VIEWS IN THE CONTEXT OF THE ENTIRE RECORD, THE  
LACK OF AN OBJECTION TO THE PROSECUTOR'S REBUTTAL  
ARGUMENT WAS A TACTICAL DECISION, AND THE VERDICT  
WAS NOT EFFECTED BY THE ARGUMENT

Defendant bases his ineffective assistance argument on the lack of a single objection. This Court, in Codianna v Morris, 660 P.2d 1101 (Utah 1983), reaffirmed the test used to determine whether or not counsel has been ineffective. Two elements were identified, a subjective element and an objective element. The subjective element, willingness to identify with the interest of the accused, and the objective element, competency, are both necessary. Three factors are used to make the determination regarding the objective element. First, the Defendant must prove to the level of demonstrable reality that the representation is inadequate. Second, a legitimate exercise in judgment regarding strategy or tactics does not constitute ineffective assistance. Third, any deficiency must be prejudicial. That is, but for the error it must be reasonably likely there would have been a different result. Codianna, supra at 1109.

The Defendant argues that he has met the first portion of the test because trial counsel did not object to the Prosecutor's statement during rebuttal. It is true that statement invited the jurors to consider matters they would not be justified in considering. An objection to the statement would have been



sustained. But, while the presence of the statement and the lack of an objection is a demonstrable reality, that is not sufficient to meet the test. As this Court stated in Codianna, "Counsel need not recognize and raise every possible objection in order to meet the competence standard." *Id.* at 1113. It is the record as a whole which must be reviewed and establish the "demonstrable reality." State v. Andreason, 718 P.2d 403 (Utah 1986) at 402-403.

The Defendant also argues the decision not to object could not have been a tactical decision. This is not the case. Trial counsel had observed the jury's reaction throughout the day. He was in the best position to assess the impact of the remark in context of the entire trial. As the district court noted in its first memorandum decision, "In view of the several objections of defense counsel (many of which were over-ruled) before the remarks of the prosecutor in closing argument, defense counsel may reasonably have determined that it was in his client's best interest not to object. (Tr., pp 120, 121, 122, 123, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131). Defense counsel may have felt that the jury would have reacted adversely to the appellant if another objection was made and overruled. Furthermore, the failure to object may have been based upon defense counsel's reasonable hope that the jury would not focus on the remarks, and upon a reasonable belief that an objection would only focus their attention on matters which they should not consider. It appears, therefore, that defense counsel's decision not to object to the

Prosecutor's remarks was a legitimate exercise of professional judgment, and it is speculative whether or not such decision constituted an inadequate assistance by counsel." Memorandum decision of Judge Judith Billings, attached as Appendix "A".

The City submits it is proper to defer to the trial attorney (State v. Lairby, 699 P.2d 1187 (Utah 1984) at 1204. A copy of P.1204 is attached as Appendix "B". The City respectfully refers the Court to footnote 19.), who had identified himself with the interests of his client, made numerous objections, actively cross-examined witnesses, called several witnesses on his clients behalf, and fully participated in the trial consistent with the ethics of the profession. The second prong has not been met. .

The third prong of the test is whether or not a deficiency was prejudicial. The Codianna Court defined prejudice as an error without which there would be a reasonable likelihood the result would have been different. This is similar to the test which was set forth in State v. Valdez, 30 Utah 2d 54, 513 P.2d 422 (1973).

The first part of the Valdez test is met in the case at bar. The prosecutor's remark did suggest something other than the Defendant's guilt was before the jury. The second part of the test, that the jurors were probably influenced, cannot be met.

In State v. Andreason, supra this Court applied the test set forth in Valdez. In Andreason, this Court held because of the marginal nature of the evidence on intent, there was a reasonable likelihood the remark affected the jury. Andreason, supra at 403.

The instant case is distinguishable from Andreason.

The evidence in Andreason was clearly circumstantial. No one was ever seen bypassing the electrical meters. No one was seen using tools in the new warehouse. No tests were ever made to determine if the outlets in the warehouse were receiving live voltage through the meter. Witnesses testified power was brought in by extension cord from outside sources. Outside lighting at another building was obtained through bypassing the meter, but no direct evidence was introduced on who had done that. A formula was used to compute the amount of power used without any direct evidence of use of the tools. Andreason, supra at 401. This Court concluded there was no direct evidence of guilt. Id. at 403.

The evidence of guilt in the instant case is much stronger. There can be no question that the Defendant was exposed. The evidence on that point was overwhelming. His genitals were seen by four store employees. Two of them testified people in the credit area also saw his genitals.

The instant case is similar to Andreason in that in both the evidence on intent is circumstantial. Proof of intent usually is circumstantial. State v. Smith, 46 UAR 20 (1986) at 21. But unlike Andreason, the evidence in the case at bar is strong. The Defendant's own testimony clearly implies his intent.

The Defendant identified a photograph of himself which he said depicted his appearance and dress the day he was arrested. He contended what the people in the store saw was his

undershorts. His testimony regarding the photograph bears directly on his intent.

"A What are you asking, sir?

Q That he saw the red shorts and though that that was you?

A He saw the brownish-red shorts, sir--

Q Brownish-red shorts.

A --and thought that--and the very tight brownish-red shorts and thought that was me.

Q And in fact, sir, when you were--when you had this picture taken in Portland that we've marked as Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, you were wearing those red shorts, weren't you?

A That correct.

Q And in fact, they're partially visible there, aren't they?

A That's correct.

Q And--

A Deliberately, sir.

Q Deliberately?

A That's correct.

Q In other words, you had to make an effort to get your shorts out around so that part of you would hang out of there; isn't that correct?

A It's correct, sir, that I was illustrating the point that they were visible from the shorts, that the

shorts were moved." (TT p.93 11 14-25; p. 94, ii 1-12.

The Defendant's own testimony was that he had to deliberately pull his jogging shorts up so the undershorts could be seen in the photograph. Both Ms. Loveless and Mr. Poore testified that the jogging shorts were hiked up much higher on May 4, 1985, than they were in the photograph. (TT p.38, 11 22-24; p. 53, 11 14-18). Both Ms. Loveless and Ms. Zupon testified that the jogging shorts were even higher when the Defendant exited the men's room. (TT p.41, 11 15-22; p. 74, 11 1-10). Even if it had been undershorts that everyone saw, there is only one logical conclusion to come to regarding how the jogging shorts came to be hiked up as high they were: The Defendant deliberately pulled them up.

The Defendant's contention it was not his genitalia which were exposed is simply not credible. In contrast to the testimony that he was exposed, the Defendant testified he did not know he was exposed. (TT p.89, 11 12-16). He also stated that the undershorts he claimed to have worn were very tight. (TT p.91, 11 16-18' p. 92 1 9). Surely the Defendant would have known if his private parts were outside of those tight shorts. Ms. Loveless testified there was "no-way" it was the shorts she had seen. (TT p.132, 11 2-5). The jury properly concluded that he was exposed and that he deliberately exposed himself.

Defendant also argues negative character evidence was improperly introduced by the City during rebuttal. The City submits the evidence that the Defendant lied to his former wife

and registered a vehicle in New Jersey to avoid paying Utah Taxes. (TT p.121, 11 2-12; p. 122, 11 7-12) was properly received.

In State v. Miller, 709 P.2d 350 (Utah 1985) this Court held the introduction of specific instances of conduct as part of Defendant's case in chief was prohibited by the Utah Rules of Evidence. Whether or not specific instances of conduct would be proper as rebuttal evidence was not addressed in Miller. Prior to the present rules taking effect, this Court ruled that specific instances of conduct were appropriate rebuttal evidence. State v. Green, 578 P.2d 512 (Utah 1978) at 514. The City submits that under the present rules, (Rule 404 and 405) there are instances where specific instances of conduct are proper rebuttal.

In United States v. Johnson, 634 F.2d 735 (1980), (attached as Appendix "E") the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals stated that Rule 404(b) made extrinsic acts evidence inadmissible solely to prove the Defendant is a bad character likely to commit the crime charged. They also stated such acts were admissible for other purposes, such as those set forth by the rule, but that the list was illustrative, not exclusive. *Id.*, at 737.

The Johnson Court dealt with facts somewhat like those in the case at bar. Johnson's defense in her income tax evasion trial was inadvertance. She testified to that end and brought in several local witnesses who testified to her truthfulness, honesty and compassion, as well as the busy nature of her medical

practice. Id., at 736

To rebut this evidence, the government called an auditor who testified at length about his investigation of her books. He stated her books showed Johnson reported four times as many services per patient as other Virginia doctors, and that she had billed for services she had not performed. The Johnson Court held this testimony was admissible. Id., at 736, 737.

After commenting on the discretion granted a trial judge under Rule 404(b), the Court noted,

"Particularly where, as here, a defendant in a criminal case by her own testimony and that of others has deliberately sought as the primary means of defense to depict herself as one whose essential philosophy and habitual conduct in life is completely at odds with the possession of a state of mind requisite to guilt of the offense charged, that defendant may have been considered in effect to have forfeited any protection that the first sentence of the Rule might otherwise have provided against the type of "other act" evidence here challenged."

Johnson, supra at 737, 738

The City submits the Defendant's evidence raised two issues: 1) his moral character, that is, that his philosophy and habitual conduct were at odds with exposing himself; and 2) his credibility as a witness. The City suggests that by so doing, he placed himself outside the protection afforded him in Rule 404.

The Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals has ruled on this issue. In United States v. Gustafson, 728 F.2d 1078 (1984), (attached as Appendix "D") they addressed the question of admission of other wrongs or acts. They stated that Rule 404(b) is one of inclusion

allowing admission of other crimes, wrongs or acts relevant to an issue in the trial. They stated that the trial court has broad discretion in deciding whether or not to admit such evidence and would only be reversed when it is clear such evidence has no bearing on any of the issues involved in the trial. (Id., at 1083). A review of the record makes it clear the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing evidence haring on the issues raised by the Defendant.

The Defendant placed his moral character and his character for truthfulness and veracity in issue by testifying and calling character witnesses. When the prosecutor asked Mrs. Richards, the Defendant's ex-wife, if he had lied to her, defense counsel objected. The court overruled the objection, stating, "I think in light of the character evidence that's been received, that this is proper rebuttal." (TT p. 121, ll 7-8.) Mrs. Richards stated that he had lied on numerous occasions, that he had registered a vehicle in New Jersey to avoid paying Utah State taxes on it, and that he had a poor reputation for truthfulness and veracity. (TT pp. 121-124.) The trial Court properly allowed rebuttal evidence consisting of relevant specific instances of conduct. The City submits under the standards of Green, Johnson and Gustafson, *supra*, there was no abuse of discretion.

When the entire record and the circumstances of the case are considered, it is clear the remarks of the prosecutor did not effect the verdict. Evidence that the Defendant was exposed was



overwhelming. The evidence also showed there was only one way the Defendant's shorts could have been high enough to facilitate the exposure: he did it deliberately. Even though an improper argument was made, and assuming improper rebuttal testimony was admitted, the evidence was such that it is not reasonably likely the result would have been different.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the City submits that trial counsel was effective and competent and respectfully moves this Court to affirm the conviction and remand the case to the circuit court.